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OPINION
EACTS

On Jduly 1, 1997, the Shelby County Grand Jury returned indictments agai nst the defendant,
charging him in a one-count indictment with criminal attempt to commit especially aggravated
robbery, and inatwo-count indictment with first degree premeditated murder and first degreefelony
murder, for the November 24, 1996, killing and attempted robbery of the twenty-three-year-old
victim, Brian Pritchard. The defendant was subsequently convicted by ajury of second degree
murder and attempted especially aggravated robbery. He was sentenced by the trial court to the
maximum terms of twelve years as a Range |, standard offender for the atempted especially



aggravated robbery conviction and twenty-five years as a violent offender for the second degree
murder conviction, with the sentencesto be served consecutively, for an effective sentenceof thirty-
sevenyears. Following the denial of hismotion for anew trial, hefiled atimely appeal, presenting
the following issues for our review:

I.  Didthetria court err by overruling the defensemotionin
l[imine and permitting Eric Rogers to testify that he was
being robbed at gunpoint by Keith Brown just before the
shooting of [the victim] by the defendant?

1. Didthetrial court err by overruling the defense mationin
limine and permitting Eric Rogers to testify that Keith
Brown said “Don’t shoot him, Derek, don’t shoot him” in
violation of the hearsay rule and in violation of the
defendant’ sright of confrontation?

[11. Isthe evidence sufficient to negate the existence of self-
defense beyond a reasonabl e doubt?

IV. Is the evidence sufficient to negate beyond reasonable
doubt that the killing was accomplished in a state of
passion produced by adequate provocation?

V. s the evidence sufficient to sustain the verdict of guilt of
attempted especially aggravated robbery?

V1. Didthetria court err by applying the enhancement factor for
committing a crime under circumstances under which the
potential for bodily injury to avictim was great to the attempted
especially aggravated robbery conviction?

VII. Did the trial court err in sentencing the defendant to the
maximum term of 25 yearsfor second degree murder and tothe
maximum term of 12 yearsfor attempted especially aggravated
robbery?

State’ s Proof

At the defendant’s trial, Dr. Wendy Gunther, the forensic pathologist who performed the
autopsy of the victim’s body, testified that the victim died from a gunshot wound to the head in
which the bullet entered in front of his left ear, traveled through his head, and lodged in the skull
bone behind and below his right ear. In addition to the gunshot wound to the head, which would
have been immediately faal, the victim also suffered what Dr. Gunther characterized as “flesh
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wound[s]” to bothlegs, caused by bulletsthat travel ed through the “ deep meat” of histhighsbut did
not hit any blood vessels, bones, or major nerves. Shetestified that she found three gunshot wounds
in the victim’ s right leg, consisting of one entrance wound and two exit wounds in the thigh that
were caused by either asinglebullet that brokeintotwo piecesor two bulletsthat entered at the same
place, and two gunshot wounds in his left leg, consisting of an entrance wound and an exit wound
in the thigh. The gunshot wounds in both Iegs occurred, roughly, from the back to the front of the
victim’s thighs. The wounds to the victim’s legs would not have prevented him from standing or
running. Dr. Gunther could not determine at what distancethefatal gunshot wasfired, what position
the victim wasin when shot, or whether the gunshot woundswereinflicted by one or two guns. She
said that the victim’ sblood-al cohol level was0.11 grams per deciliter, and that histoxicology report
revealed no drugs of any kind in his system.

Thomas Hughlett testified that the defendant wasformerly hisuncl€ s stepson and was* like
acousin.” On November 24, 1996, he was barbequing at his mother’ s housein Memphiswhen the
defendant came by and asked him “to take him on Aubra Street.” When he refused, the defendant
pulled two gunsout of hisclothing and said, “I’m going to kill me amotherfucker and | ain’t going
back tojail. 1'm going to hell.” Hughlett agreed on cross-examination that the defendant was not
“acting right,” testifying that his eyeslooked “glossy” and he appeared to be under the influence of
somekind of drug. Hewas awarethat the defendant had been snorting powder cocainefor anumber
of months, but did not know if he had used any that day. He conceded, however, that he had told
police officers that the defendant became * crazy” and “awhole different person” when he was on
cocaine.

Eric Rogers, afriend of the victim, testified that the victim was with him on the evening of
November 24, 1996, as he responded to a page he had receved from someone at a residence on
AubraStreet. He said that when he pulled his car into the driveway, he saw the defendant’ sface &
the upstairs window of an apartment belonging to awoman named Nicole. Leaving thevictimin
his car, he got out and went up to the apartment to find out who had paged him. On hisway up, he
saw the defendant sitting on the hallway stairs with Keith Brown. When told by the apartment’s
occupants that no one there had paged him, he headed back out to his car. He had paused to talk
downstairswith awoman named Christine when Brown asked if hehad alight. Rogers said that he
gave Brown a book of matches, and then started toward his car. He did not see the victim.

Rogers testified that as he was waking to the car, Brown pulled a gun on him and ordered
himto “drop it off.” He said that he threw hisarm up and ran around the car. He slipped and fell,
and Brown pulled him up by his shirt and demanded again that he “drop it off.” After Rogers had
given Brown $142, Brown asked where his car keys were and wastold they wereinthe car. At that
point, he heard Brown repeatedly say, “Derek, don’t shoot. Derek, don’t shoot,” and looked around
to see the victim and the defendant on the front porch of the “complex” next door.! He then heard
two or three gunshots. In response to the gunshots, he ran around Nicole' s building. He next saw

! Crime scene photographsreveal that the “complex” referred to by Rogers, comprising 1185 and 1187 Aubra,
is aone-story duplex with along front porch.
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Brown get into his car and pull out into the street, the defendant run off the front porch of the duplex
and jump into the car, and both men drive off. He later identified Brown and the defendant from
photographic spreadsheets shown to him by the police.

Rogers testified on cross-examination that he had known the defendant for about fifteen
years, but they were not friends. He said that the defendant had known his pager number, although
acknowledging he had told police two days after the shooting that the defendant did not. Inaddition
to Nicole, men heknew as*“Head” and “ Twin” werein Nicol€ s apartment when hearrived. Hedid
not see the defendant with a gun when he went up to the gpartment, and saw Brown, but not the
defendant, when he came back outside the building. Hetestified that he saw the defendant and the
victim on the porch after Brown yelled to the defendant not to shoot, and that he thought he saw the
defendant standing over thevictim. He said that the two or three gunshots he heard from the porch,
the last of which may have occurred after a slight pause, “had to come from [the defendant].”
However, he acknowledged that he did not see the victim get shot, did not see the defendant with
agun, and did not see what transpired between the victim and the defendant before the shooting.

Rogers admitted that it was dark at the time of the shooting and that he had testified during
the preliminary hearing that, although he had seen someone standing on the porch, he had not been
ableto seewho it was. He acknowledged that he went to his mother’ s house after the shooting and
that later he, “Premo,” and “ Tam” had gone armed with pistolsto the West Memphis traler home
of the defendant’s girlfriend, where they had kicked in the door and demanded to know the
defendant’ swhereabouts. Heal so acknowledged that both he and the victim had both been involved
with drugs at the time of the shooting.

Kenneth Ezell, who was 14 when the shooting occurred, testified that he was on the front
porch of aduplex at 1185 Aubra Street at about 6:30 or 7:00 p.m. on November 24, 1996, when he
saw the victim and Rogers pull upinacar. Ezdl said that the next-door neighbor, Roger Lee, was
on the porch with him at the time, as well as “Twin,” whose real name, he believed, was Kevin
Phillips. Rogerswent next door, and the victim came up onto the porch of 1185 Aubra and began
talking with Lee. Ezell said that the victim stood talking on the porch for about thirty minutes until
they heard “a commotion” next door from the house he had seen Rogers enter, which caused
everyoneto turn around and look. When they did so, “therewasaguy with two (2) guns saying drop
it off.” According to Ezell, the man was pointing his guns at the entire group onthe duplex’ sporch,
and was not directing his words to any particular person. He said that when he saw the guns and
heard the command to “drop it off,” heraninto thehouse. Two or three secondslater, heheard three
or four gunshots. After approximately twenty minutes, he went back outside and saw the victim
lying on the porch. Ezell identified the defendant as the man he had seen with the two guns. He
testified that he did not see the victim, “Twin,” or Lee with agun that evening, and that he had not
had a gun either.

Ezell testified on cross-examination that he had seen the defendant around the neighborhood

prior to November 24, 1996, but the first time he saw him on the day of the shooting was at about
7:30 p.m. Hedid not remember telling the police after the shooting that he was not on the porch
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when the defendant arrived, or telling aninvestigator in an August 26, 1999, tel ephone conversation
that he did not come through the area until after everything had already happened. He also did not
remember having said that heand L ee were the only oneson the porch that evening. Hetestified that
hewas on the porch immediately beforethe shooting, and that Lee, “Twin,” and “Mug” wereonthe
porch with him. The “Twin” on the porch with him was not Kevin Phillips, as he had suggested
during his direct examination testimony, but instead was “another twin out of Hilltop, right down
the street.” However, Phillips had been “ out there for aminute” beforewalkingto astore. He did
not recall any drug activity that night, denied any knowledge about any drug sales that might have
been taking place on the street, and was not aware of what the victim and Rogers did for aliving.
He acknowledged that he heard someoneyell, “ They’refighting” just before he went into the house.
Hetestified on redirect, however, that the defendant and the victim had not been fighting.

An eyewitnessto the shooting, Kevin Phillips (“ Twin”), testified that he had beeninthe area
all day. Thevictim wastalking to Robert Leewhen Phillipsleft to go to the store. When hereturned
from the store, he saw Keith Brown chasing Eric Rogers around a car. At the same time, the
defendant ran up, grabbed the victim, and slung him facedown onto his stomach with his hands out
to hissides. The defendant told the victim to give him hismoney. The victim replied that he did
not have any, and was* pulling hispocketsout tryingto show him hedidn’t have[any] money” when
the defendant “all of asudden” shot him. Thevictim said, “I an’t got no money, don’t shoot me.”
Thedefendant shot himagain. Thevictimsaid, “Pleasedon’t kill me.” Thedefendant then shot him
again.? During the shooting, Brown asked the defendant what he was doing and told him not to
shoot or kill the victim.

Two days after the shooting, he identified the defendant from a photographic lineup as the
victim’'s shooter. Phillips also made a positive courtroom identification of the defendant as the
shooter. Hetestified that the defendant had two gunsat the timeof the shooting, and that hehad also
seen the weapons earlier that day when the defendant was “[f]lashing them around.” Asfar ashe
knew, the victim did not have a weapon. On cross-examination, Phillips acknowledged that the
victimand Rogerswereboth friends of his, and conceded that the defendant * probably” was* strung
on crack cocaine’ that night. Heinsisted, however, that he knew nothing about any drug activity on
the street.

Officer Cham Payne of the Memphis Police Department Crime Response Unit testified that
he and his partner received a call about the shooting at 6:45 p.m. When they arrived a the scene,
1185 and 1187 Aubra, which was a duplex, they found the victim lying on his back on the front
porch in front of the door to 1185. Sergeant Thomas Helldorfer, a homicide investigator with the
M emphis Police Department, testified that, as part of hisinvestigation of the crime, he searched for
the defendant at various locations, including the Aubra neighborhood and his grandmother’ s house
on New Y ork, but was unable to find him.

2While Phillips testified that the defendant shot the victim three times, it is not clear as to whether he watched
as all three shots were fired, or watched two shots and heard the third.
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Defense Pr oof

Thefirst defense witnesswas Steven Paul Rossby, Ph.D., amolecular neurobiol ogist on the
faculty of Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, who wasallowed to offer expert testimony on
serotonin and its relationship to human behavior. Dr. Rosshy testified that serotonin is one of a
number of naturally occurring chemicalsinthe brain knownasneurotransmitters, whichfall intoone
of two categories. excitatory neurotransmitters, or chemicals that cause the nerve cells to fire
impulses, and inhibitory neurotransmitters, or chemicalsthat inhibit or prevent the nerve cellsfrom
firing. Serotonin, which actstoinhibit thefiring of nerveimpul ses, has been the subject of extensive
research for over twenty years because it gopears not only to be an inhibitory neurotransmitter, but
also to control or orchestrate other inhibitory systemsin the brain. Dr. Rossby explained that the
various inhibitory systemsin the human brain have evolved

so that we don’t act on every impulse, so that we may get angry but
we don't go beyond it, we control our anger, or we -- we don't
respond to everything that’s happening impulsively, that we -- we
have a chance -- we have some control within the limbic system.
This has evolved over -- | don't know how many millions of years
these sysems have evolved to protect us from just acting purely
impulsively.

Dr. Rossby testified that the research in thefield has consistently shown alink between low
serotonin levels and “explosive impulsive violence.” In addition, scientists have discovered that
Type |l alcoholism and intermittent explosive disorder are both linked to low levels of serotonin.
Hedescribed aType |l alcoholic as*the mean drunk,” “[t]he person who has a couple of drinks and,
then, becomes suddenly violent and angry,” and testified that intermittent explosive disorder is
characterized by a“ sudden loss of control and an explosive violent behavior that seemsto have been
triggeredby littleor nothing at all.” Heexplained the rel ationship between |ow serotonin and violent
behavior as follows:

Low serotonin, initself, doesnot causeviolence. Low serotoninonly
indicates your capacity for dealing with your anger, . . . your
biological capacity to control yourself. But it doesn’t actualy --
Serotonin does not produce violence. | mean, many people havelow
serotonin and they are depressed all of thetime. And many people
have low serotonin and they can’t stop gambling. But it depends on
aperson’ searly childhood experiences and alot of other factors. But
withlow serotonin, once theimpulsive behavior hasbeen -- has been
released, the low serotonin indicates your -- your ability to take it
back or control it. And many people who have low serotonin are
virtually incapable of controlling their impulsive behavior.



Although he agreed that cocainewas a stimulant, he testified that scientific studies have not shown
a link between serotonin levels and cocaine use. Therefore, he could not say whether chronic
cocaine use by an individual with low serotonin would exacerbate the lack of inhibition.

Dr. Rossby testified that he determined the defendant’s serotonin level was low by
performing astatistical comparison of hisaverage serotonin level totheaveragelevelsof thirty-four
controls—men who were diagnosed by Vanderbilt psychiatrigsto be“normal”; i.e., with no mental
illnessesand no family history of mental illnesses. Thedefendant’ saverage serotoninlevel was78.5
nanomoles. The thirty-four controls had average serotonin levels ranging from a low of 87.5
nanomoles to a high of 250 nanomoles, with the average or mean a 142.1 nanomoles. Using
statistical tests and the data from the controls, he concluded that 89% of the males in the total
population have higher serotonin level sthan the defendant. The defendant’ sserotoninlevel, infact,
was “among the lowest” he had seen. Since the studies indicate that a man’s serotonin level will
remain stable throughout hislife until he reaches the age of aout 50 or 60, when serotonin levels
tend to rise, he could assumethat the defendant’ s serotonin leve at the time he conducted his tests,
in 1999, was reflective of his serotonin level at the time of the shooting, in 1996. Dr. Rossby
testified that his opinion, “given the level of [the defendant’s] serotonin and given the scientific
literature and all of the studies,” was that the defendant’ s “ capacity to control [an] impulse once it
has occurred is virtually non-existent.”

On cross-examination, Dr. Rossby acknowledged that in order for serotonin to berelated to
a crime, the crime would have to be impulsive. He further acknowledged that the Finnish
researchers who conducted the watershed study on the subject, a study to which he had referred
numerous times during his testimony, had not included crimes in which the perpetrator had had a
potential monetary mative, or had known his victim, in the group of crimes they considered
impulsive. He said, however, that those criteriawere merely used by the original researchersas“a
convenience. . . to try to roughly separate the prisonersinto two (2) groups so they could study the
differences’; under the current scientific knowledge, acrime could be considered impulsive even if
committed for potential monetary gain, or against someone known to the perpetrator.

Thetwenty-five-year-old defendant al so testified inhisown defense. He said that at thetime
of the incident he was making his living by sdling drugs and gambling and had been engaging in
thoseactivitiessincehewas 15. He often went to the AubraStreet neighborhood to sell “ dope,” and
wasthere selling drugs at the time the shooting occurred. Hewas armed with a.22 pistol, which he
awayscarried with him, dueto the nature of hisbusinessand the nei ghborhood which hefrequented.
The defendant testified that it is common for people in the drug trade to be armed. Hesaid that he
knew both Rogers and the victim from the neighborhood, and knew that they were dso involved in
the drug trade. He testified that Rogers was the supplier of mogt, if not all, of the drugs sold in the
neighborhood and that the victim was one of hissellers. Although Rogers attempted to control all
the drug activity in the area, the defendant did not work for him.

The defendant testified that he was smoking a marijuana cigarette and urinating against the
side of the house when the victim and Rogers pulled up. He saw the victim get out of the car and
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then heard him arrange to sell a“ dude” $100 worth of cocaine. When the victim ran upstairs to get
the drugs, he stepped forward and “ gave Dude abetter deal.” The victim came back down, learned
from the drug buyer that the defendant had already sold him the drugs, became angry, and accused
the defendant of steding his sale. The defendant said that he answered by telling the victim, in
effect, that he was just out there to make a living like everybody else. The victim responded by
telling him that he should not be selling drugsin hisarea. The defendant said that he took offense
andtold thevictim, “You havemef’ dup.” Next, thevictimacted asif he were goingtowak away,
but then turned and reached for his gun.

Thedefendant testified that when hesaw thevictimreachfor hisgun, hegrabbed thevictim’'s
hand and thetwo began “tussling.” Duringthestruggle, he picked the victim up and slung him down
on the porch, causing the victim’s gun to slide out of hishand. After he threw the victim down, he
brought hisgun out and shot him twicein rapid succession. When thevictim began crawling toward
hisgun, he ran forward, grabbed the victim’ s gun, and shot him again. According to the defendant,
the entire epi sode occurred within the space of secondsor, in hiswords, “all at once.” He could not
clearly remember everything that had occurred, but knew that he ran to the corner after the victim
fell. When asked if he had intended to rob the victim, the defendant answered, “No, sir. | had too
much money in my pocket. | had over fifteen hundred (1,500).” He said that he threw thevictim’s
gun, along with his own, into the river as he drove across the bridge into Arkansas.

The defendant further testified that he had been using large amounts of marijuana, cocaine,
and alcohol, and was under the influence of both cocaine and alcohol at the time the shooting
occurred. Hesaid that he“smoke[d] weed like cigarettes,” “dr[alnk winelikewater . . . dl day every
day,” and snorted “[a]bout half an ounce aday” of cocaine. He began drinking and using drugs at
the age of 4, when his uncles started giving him alcohol and marijuana to amuse themselves by
watching him get high. Later, when they tried to get him to quit, it wastoo late. He said that he had
livedintwo treatment facilitiesasachild: MMHI, where helived when hewas9 or 10, and Sequoia
Center, where he lived for about two years. At both fadilities, he was prescribed “alot of drugs,”
whosenameshe could not remember. Hefirst heardtheterm*intermittent explosivedisorder” when
he was about 5 or 6 and was put into treatment. Although he did not understand what the term
meant, he remembered that he used to lose his temper almost every day, and that he would get so
upset that hewould “blank out.” When he cameto, he could not alwaysremember what he had done
while he was “blanked out.”

On cross-examination, the defendant deni ed having had two gunswhen hewent to Hughlett’ s
house, or having been with Brown at the Aubra Street location. He admitted that he had accepted
a ride from Brown after the shooting, but said that he had not known anything about Brown’'s
robbery of Rogers at the time. He testified that he had been around the corner using a pay phone
when Brown pulled up and offered him the ride. He said that he had “snapped” when the victim
pulled the gun on him, but acknowledged that he did not say anything in his statement to the police,
when they located him several monthslater, about the victim’s having pulled agun. He explained
thisomission by testifying that he had told the police only what he*felt that they needed to know,”
that he had killed the victim but had not robbed him. He admitted that his memory of the events
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surrounding the shooting wasnot perfect, and that some of what heremembered might have occurred
in hisdreams. On redirect, hetestified that he had told the same story he wasteling in court to his
defense counsel and their investigators “[m]any, many times.”

After deliberating, thejury found thedefendant guilty of second degree murder and attempted
especiallyaggravated robbery. Findingseveral enhancement factorsapplicable, and no strong factors
in mitigation, the trial court sentenced the defendant to the maximum terms of twelve years as a
Range I, standard offender for the attempted especia ly aggravated robbery conviction, and twenty-
fiveyearsasaviolent offender for the second degree murder conviction. The sentenceswereordered
to be served consecutively, for atotal effective sentence of thirty-seven years.

ANALYSIS
I. Admissibility of Evidence of Brown’s Robbery of Rogers

Ashisfirst issue, the defendant contends that the trial court erred by allowing Eric Rogers
to testify that he was being robbed by Keth Brown just prior to the shooting of the victim.

The admission of evidence generally lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and
will not be reversed on appeal absent ashowing of an abuse of discretion. See Statev. Gilliland, 22
S.W.3d 266, 270 (Tenn. 2000); State v. Edison, 9 SW.3d 75, 77 (Tenn. 1999); State v. Cauthern,
967 SW.2d 726, 743 (Tenn. 1998). As our supreme court has explained:

Because the term “discretion” essentially “denotes the absence of a
hardandfastrule,” wewill reverseadecisionto admitevidence*only
when the ‘court applied an incorrect legal standard, or reached a
decision which isagaing logic or reasoning that caused an injustice
to the party complaining.””

Gilliland, 22 SW.3d at 270 (quoting Statev. Shirley, 6 S.\W.3d 243, 247 (Tenn. 1999)). Wereview
this issue, therefore, under an abuse of discretion standard.

The defendant contends that evidence that Brown was robbing Rogers should have been
excluded either under Tennessee Rul e of Evidence 401 onthebasisthat it wasirrelevant to any issue
at trial, or under Tennessee Rule of Evidence 404(b) on the basis that its probative value was
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. With respect to thelatter, hearguesthat thejury could
have inferred from the testimony that he and Brown were partners in crime, and thus atributed
Brown’'s actionsto him. The State respondsthat the trial court properly found the evidence to be
relevant in order to establish thecontextual framework for Rogers stestimony, and that Rule 404(b)
isinapplicable because the challenged “other crime” was committed by Brown, not the defendant.
The State further argues that any prejudicial effect created by the evidence was slight, pointing out
that Rogers' stestimony did not directly implicate the defendant in the crime, and that the trial court
instructed the jury that the defendant was not charged with the robbery of Rogers and it was not to
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consider evidence of that robbery when making its determination of the defendant’s guilt of the
offenses with which he was charged. We agree with the State.

Tennessee Rule of Evidence 404(b) which, with certain exceptions, prohibits“[€e]vidence of
other crimes, wrongs, or acts . . . to prove the character of a person in order to show action in
conformity with the character trait” is inapplicable in this situation, since the crime at issue was
committed by Brown, and the State presented no direct evidence that the defendant was involved.
Theappropriate anaysis of thisissue, therefore, isunder Tennessee Rules of Evidence 401 and 403.
Rule 401 provides that relevant evidence is “ evidence having any tendency to make the existence
of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or |ess probable
than it would bewithout the evidence.” Rule 403 providesthat rel evant evidence, which under Rule
402 is generally admissible, may be excluded if “its probative vd ue is substantially outweighed by
the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading thejury, or by considerations of
undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Tenn. R. Evid. 403.

The trial court found that Rogers and Brown were both “an integral part of [the] whole
scenario” and that there was no meaningful way for the State to present Rogers' stestimony without
introducing evidence that he was being robbed by Brown. Consequently, the court ruled that the
evidence was relevant in order to esablish the context for Rogers's testimony, including the
conditions that existed at the time he heard Brown’ s statement to the defendant. The court stated,
however, that it would instruct the jury that it was not to hold the defendant accountable for the
robbery of Rogers:

[I]f thereiscircumstantial evidence that Mr. Rogers and [the victim]
were connected, if there is circumstantial evidence that this is an
overal combination of interest by [the defendant] and Mr. Brown,
those areissuesfor thejury to decide. But | cantell thejury that they
arenot to hold [the defendant] accountable for what happenedto Mr.
Rogers. That’sthe only way | know how to do that.

| don’t believe you can exclude the facts of what’s going on at
the sametime under the scenario y' all are givingme. | don’t see any
way to do that at all. SoI'll deny that motion.

We find no abuse of discretion by the trial court in this matter. The evidence was relevant
to show the context in which Rogers heard Brown’s statement and witnessed some of the eventsthat
transpired on the porch of the duplex. Moreover, its probative value was not substantially
outweighed by the danger that it would unfairly prejudice the defendant. In fact, that Rogers was
being robbed asthe victim was being robbed and shot would appear rel evant to explain why Rogers
was not more attentive to the victim’ splight and did not try to ad him. To minimizetheevidence's
prejudicial effect, thetrial court twice instructed the jury, at the time the testimony was presented,
that the defendant was not being charged with the robbery of Rogers and it should not consider any
evidence of that robbery in its determination of the defendant’ s guilt. Furthermore, the trial court
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repeated the sameinstructionto thejury at the conclusion of thetrial, providing thefollowing signed,
handwritteninstruction: “Membersof the Jury, therewas sometestimony presented about aRobbery
of Eric Rogers by Keith Brown. [ The defendant] has not been charged with that offenseand you are
not to decide this case based upon any crime that may have been committed against Eric Rogers.”
We, therefore, conclude that the trial court did not err in admitting the evidence.

[I. Admissibility of Keith Brown’s Statement, “ Derek, don’t shoot,” to Defendant

The defendant next contendsthat thetrial court erred by allowing Eric Rogersto testify that
he heard Keith Brown call out, “ Derek, don’t shoot. Derek, don’t shoot,” just beforethe victimwas
shot, arguing the statement was inadmissible hearsay that violated his right to confrontation. The
State contends, inter alia, that the trial court properly admitted the statement under the excited
utterances exception to the rule against hearsay.

A hearsay statement is “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying
at thetrial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Tenn. R. Evid.
801(c). Asagenera rule, hearsay isnot admissibleat trial unlessit fallsunder one of the exceptions
to the rule against hearsay. Tenn. R. Evid. 802. “The determination of whether a statement is
hearsay and whether it is admissible through an exception to the hearsay rule is l&ft to the sound
discretion of thetrial court.” Statev. Stout, 46 S.W.3d 689, 697 (Tenn.), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 998,
122 S. Ct. 471,151 L. Ed. 2d 386 (2001). Assuch, wewill not reversethetrial court’ sruling absent
ashowing that it abused its discretion. Id.

Thetrial court ruled the statement admissible under the excited utterances exception to the
ruleagainst hearsay, which providesthat an otherwise inadmissible hearsay statement isadmissible
iIf shown to be “relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the
stress of excitement caused by the event or condition.” See Tenn. R. Evid. 803(2). Were we to
determinethat Brown’ swordsconstituted hearsay, wewould concludethat the eventsthat transpired
immediately before he spoke were sufficiently startling to warrant admission of the statement asan
excited utterance. However, commands, instructions, and questions often are not hearsay because
they are not offered to prove the truth of their content. See State v. Lequire, 634 SW.2d 608, 612
(Tenn. Crim. App. 1981); State v. Onea Sanford, No. E1999-02089-CCA-R3-CD, 2001 Tenn.
Crim. App. LEX1S440, at **19-20 (Tenn. Crim. App. June 18, 2001), perm. to appeal denied (Tenn.
Nov. 5,2001); Statev. L ucien Samuel Sherrod, No. 01C01-9505-CR-00157, 1997 Tenn. Crim. App.
LEXIS 89, at *19 n.5 (Tenn. Crim. App. Jan. 30, 1997); Statev. Reginald S. Mabone, No. 02C01-
9203-CR-00054, 1993 Tenn. Crim. App. LEX1S462, at *3 (Tenn. Crim. App. July 21, 1993), perm.
to appeal denied (Tenn. Oct. 4, 1993). Thus, this court has previously held that a declarant’s
instruction to “shoot this mother-fucker” did not qualify as hearsay because it was not offered to
prove the truth of the matter asserted. Mabone, 1993 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 462, at *2. In this
case, we likewise conclude that Brown’s command to the defendant not to shoot the victim does not
qualify ashearsay. Therefore, althoughthetrial court erredin finding the statement admi ssible under
the excited utterances exception to the rule against hearsay, it did not err in admitting the statement.

-11-



[11. Sufficiency of the Evidence

The defendant’ s third, fourth, and fifth issues involve challenges to the sufficiency of the
evidence. In considering these issues, we apply the familiar rule that where sufficiency of the
convicting evidence is challenged, the rdevant question of the reviewing court is “whether, after
viewing the evidence in thelight most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could
havefound the essential elementsof the crime beyond areasonabledoubt.” Jacksonv. Virginia 443
U.S. 307, 319, 9 S. Ct. 2781, 2789, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560, 573 (1979); see also State v. Evans, 838
S.W.2d 185, 190-92 (Tenn. 1992); State v. Anderson, 835 S.W.2d 600, 604 (Tenn. Crim. App.
1992); Tenn. R. App. P. 13(e) (“Findings of guilt in crimina actions whether by the trial court or
jury shall be set asideif the evidenceisinsufficient to support the findings by thetrier of fact of guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt.”).

All questions involving the credibility of witnesses, the weight and value to be given the
evidence, and all factual issues are resolved by the trier of fact. See State v. Pappas, 754 S.\W.2d
620, 623 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1987). “A guilty verdict by the jury, approved by the trial judge,
accreditsthe testimony of the witnessesfor the State and resolvesall conflictsin favor of the theory
of the State.” State v. Grace, 493 SW.2d 474, 476 (Tenn. 1973). Our supreme court stated the
rationale for thisrule:

This well-settled rule rests on a sound foundation. The trial
judge and the jury seethe witnesses faceto face, hear their testimony
and observe their demeanor on the stand. Thus the trial judge and
jury arethe primary instrumentality of justiceto determinetheweight
and credibility to be given to the testimony of witnesses. In thetria
forum aone is there human atmosphere and the totality of the
evidence cannot be reproduced with awritten record in this Court.

Bolinv. State, 219 Tenn. 4, 11, 405 S.W.2d 768, 771 (1966) (citing Carroll v. State, 212 Tenn. 464,
370 SW.2d 523 (1963)). A jury conviction removes the presumption of innocence with which a
defendant is initially cloaked and replaces it with one of guilt, so that on appeal, a convicted
defendant hasthe burden of demonstrating that theevidenceisinsufficient. See Statev. Tugale, 639
S.W.2d 913, 914 (Tenn. 1982).

A. Second Degree Murder

The defendant contends that the evidence was insufficient to negate beyond a reasonable
doubt that he acted either in self-defense, which would make him not guilty of the offense, or in a
state of passion produced by adequate provocation, which would make him guilty of voluntary
manslaughter rather than second degreemurder. Assupport for hisclaim of self-defense, heargues
that the jury’ sfalure to find him guilty of either premeditated or felony murder makesit “ apparent
that thejury accredited [ his] testimony onthematerial eventsleading upto thiskilling”; namely, that
he shot the victim, after a struggle, as the victim wasreaching for hisgun. Assupport for hisclam
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of voluntary manslaughter, hearguesthat hislow serotonin leve, which severely impairs his ability
toresistimpul ses, combined with evidencethevictim confronted him over the* stolen” drug saleand
that they engaged in a struggle, provides “compelling evidence that [he] acted in a state of passion
produced by adequate provocation.”

The State responds that the evidence was more than sufficient to support the defendant’s
conviction for second degree murder. Citing Wigginsv. State, 498 SW.2d 92, 93 (Tenn. 1973), the
Statearguesthat the seemingly inconsistent verdicts, inwhichthejury found thedefendant not guilty
of felony murder but guilty of second degree murder and criminal attempt to commit especially
aggravated robbery, do not permit the defendant to infer that the jury did not accredit the testimony
of the State’ switnesses. The State assertsthat the evidenceat trial, taken in the light most favorable
to the State, was more than sufficient for thejury to reject the defendant’ s claim of self-defenseand
find that he committed a knowing killing of the victim. Regarding the defendant’s claim that the
shooting constituted voluntary manslaughter instead of second degree murder, the State arguesthat
the evidencedid not show the defendant was provoked, thejury was entitled to reject hisdiminished
capacity defense, and his subjective serotonin level wasirrelevant to the determination of whether
he was in a state of passion sufficient to lead a reasonable person to act in an irrational manner.

Second degree murder isdefined as*[a] knowing killing of another.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-
13-210(a) (1997). Voluntary manslaughter is defined as “the intentional or knowing killing of
another in astate of passion produced by adequate provocation sufficient to |lead areasonabl e person
toactinanirrational manner.” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-13-211(a) (1997). Tennessee Code Annotated
section 39-11-611 provides, in pertinent part:

Self-defense. -- (a) A personisjustified in threatening or using
force against another person when and to the degree the person
reasonably believes the force is immediately necessary to protect
againg the other’s use or attempted use of unlawful force. The
person must have areasonable belief that thereisan imminent danger
of death or serious bodily injury. The danger creating the belief of
imminent death or serious bodily injury must be real, or honestly
believed to bereal at the time, and must be founded upon reasonable
grounds. Thereisno duty to retreat before aperson threatens or uses
force.

Tenn. Code Ann. 8 39-11-611(a) (1997).

The defendant first contends that the State failed to refute the existence of self-defense
beyond areasonable doubt. Since the defense of self-defense wasfairly raised by the evidence, the
State carried the burden of proof to negate the defense beyond a reasonable doubt. See Tenn. Code
Ann. § 39-11-201(a)(3) (1997); State v. Belser, 945 SW.2d 776, 782 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1996).
However, whether or not a defendant acted in self-defense is a question of fact for the jury to
determine. See State v. Goode, 956 S.W.2d 521, 527 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997); State v. Ivy, 868
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SW.2d 724, 727 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993). Thejury was instructed on the defense of self-defense.
By finding the defendant guilty of second degree murder, it obviously rejected the defendant’ sclaim
that he shot the victim in self-defense, choosing instead to accredit the testimony of the witnesses
for the State. Thiswasits prerogative.

The defendant argues, nonetheless, that the jury’s failure to convict him of either
premeditated or felony murder demonstratesthat it could not have accepted the State’ stheory of the
case or accredited the testimony of the State' s witnesses. According to his reasoning, had the jury
accredited the testimony of the State’ s witnesses, “the verdict would of necessity have been guilty
of premeditated murder or murder in the perpetration of afelony.” However, he concedesthat there
is “decided authority contrary to [his] position.”

The “decided authority” the defendant recognizes, Wigagins v. State, 498 SW.2d 92, 93
(Tenn. 1973), holdsthat thereis no requirement for consistency between verdicts on separate counts
of anindictment. In Wiggins, our supreme court adopted the reasoning used by the United States
Supreme Court in Dunn v. United States, 284 U.S. 390, 52 S. Ct. 189, 76 L. Ed. 356 (1932),
concluding that “ consistency in the verdictsis not necessary as each count of an indictment isto be
regarded as a separate indictment.” 498 SW.2d at 93. An appellate court should not, therefore,
“upset a seemingly inconsistent verdict by speculating asto the jury’ sreasoning” if it is*satisfied
that the evidence establishes guilt of the offense upon which the conviction wasreturned.” Id. at 94.

Theevidence here, viewed in thelight most favorabl e to the State, was sufficient for thejury
to reject the defendant’s claim of self-defense. Conflictsin thetrial testimony are resolved by the
trier of fact, not thiscourt. SeeLiakasv. State, 286 S.W.2d 856, 859 (Tenn. 1956). Thedefendant’s
testimony that he shot the victim during astruggl e that was preci pitated by thevictim’ shaving pulled
agun on him was contradicted by the witnesses who testified on the Stat€ s behalf. Kenneth Ez€ll
testified that he did not see anyone other than the defendant with a gun, and that the victim and the
defendant were not fighting. Eric Rogers testified that he heard Brown yell “Derek, don’t shoot,”
and that he saw the defendant and the victim together on the porch. Although he was uncertain,
Rogersthought he saw the defendant standing over thevictim’sbody. Kevin Phillips, an eyewitness
to the shooting, testified that the defendant grabbed the victim, threw him down onto the porch, and
demanded his money. The victim told the defendant he did not have any money, and pulled his
pockets out to demonstrate that they were empty. The defendant then shot thevictim asthe victim
lay facedown on the porch with his hands out to his sides, pleading not to be shot or killed. Phillips
did not see the victim with agun. Asthe defendant was shooting the victim, Brown was yelling to
him, “Don’t shoot him” and “Don’t kill him.” This evidence was more than sufficient for arational
trier of fact to conclude that the shooting did not occur in self-defense.

The defendant next contends that the evidence wasinsufficient to show that he was capable
of forming the knowing mensrea required for second degree murder. He argues that evidence that
hislow serotonin level impairshisability to resist impul ses, combined with evidence that thevictim
provoked him by confronting him about the stolen drug sale, supports the conclusion that his
“reason was obscured to the point that he acted in the heat of passion engendered by adequate
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provocation.” Hefurther arguesthat “[t]hetestimony of Dr. Rossby renders[his] mental stateat the
time of the encounter with [the victim] objectively reasonable,” sufficient to support a conviction
for voluntary manslaughter, rather than second degree murder. We respectfully disagree.

The concept of diminished capacity recognizes that a defendant may present expert,
psychiatric testimony “‘aimed at negating the requisite culpable mental state.”” State v. Perry, 13
SW.3d 724, 734 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1999) (quoting State v. Hall, 958 S.\W.2d 679, 688 (Tenn.
1997)). “While diminished capacity is not an excuse or justification for committing the offense, it
contemplates an acquittal of theindicted offense and aconviction for alesser included offense.” 1d.
(citing Hall, 958 S.W.2d at 688). The jury heard Dr. Rossby’ s exhaustive testimony on serotonin,
as well as the defendant’ s testimony regarding his long history of chronic drug and alcohol abuse,
his childhood treatment for intermittent explosive disorder, and his heavy drug and alcohol use at
the time of the shooting. Before deliberating, the jury received appropriate instructions on the
elements required to prove first degree premeditated murder, first degree felony murder, second
degree murder, and voluntary manslaughter, including the requisite mens rea for each offense. It
also received an ingtruction on diminished capacity.® By finding the defendant guilty of second
degree murder, the jury obviously rejected his claim that he was incapable of forming a knowing
mental state at the time of the shooting, or that the shooting occurred in a state of passion produced
by adequate provocation. Thiswaswithinitsprovince. See Statev. Johnson, 909 SW.2d 461, 464
(Tenn. Crim. App. 1995) (“Whether the acts constitute a‘ knowing killing’ (second degree murder)
or akilling dueto ‘ adequate provocation’ (voluntary manslaughter) isaquestion for thejury.”). The
evidencein this case, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, was sufficient for arational
trier of fact to reject the defendant’ s claim of self-defense, and to conclude that the defendant was
awareof hisconduct and itslikely results at the timethe shooting occurred. We, therefore, conclude
that the evidence is sufficient to sustain the defendant’ s conviction for second degree murder.

3 The record contains the following jury instruction:

The state must prove beyond areasonable doubt the cul pable mental state
of the accused. Culpable mental state means the state of mind of the accused at the
time of the offense. This means that you must consider all of the evidence to
determine the state of mind of the accused at the time of the commission of the
offense. The state of mind which the state must prove iscontained in the elements
of the offense(s) as outlined in these instructions [above][bel ow].

In this case, you have heard evidence that the defendant might have
suffered from a mental [defect][condition] which could have affected [his][her]
capacity toform the culpable mental state required to commit a particul ar offense.

If you find from the evidence that the defendant’s capacity to form a
culpable mental state may have been affected, then you must determine beyond a
reasonable doubt what the mental state of the defendant was at the time of the
commission of the offense to determine of which, if any, offense [he] is guilty.
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B. Criminal Attempt to Commit Especially Aggravated Robbery

The defendant al so contendsthat the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for
attempted especially aggravated robbery, again arguing that the inconsistent verdicts demonstrate
that the jury could not have accredited the witnessesfor the State. However, aswe have previously
discussed, consistency between verdicts on separate counts of an indictment or indictmentsis not
required in Tennessee. See Wiggins, 498 S.W.2d at 93. A person commits criminal attempt who,
“acting with the kind of culpability otherwise required for the offense . . . [a]cts with intent to
complete a course of action or cause a result that would congtitute the offense, under the
circumstancessurrounding the conduct asthe person believesthem to be, and the conduct constitutes
a substantial step toward the commission of the offense.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-12-101(a)(3)
(1997). Especidly aggravated robbery is defined as a robbery “[a]lccomplished with a deadly
weapon; and [w]here the victim suffers serious bodily injury.” Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-13-403(a)
(1997). Robbery is defined as “the intentional or knowing theft of property from the person of
another by violence or putting the person in fear.” Tenn. Code Ann.§ 39-13-401(a) (1997).

The evidence at trial, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, establishes that the
defendant, armed with two guns, approached the group in whichthevictim was standing and ordered
himto“dropit off.” Hethen threw the victim face down on the porch and demanded hismoney. As
the victim was pulling his pockets out and protesting that he had no money, the defendant shot him
in the legs and then in the head, causing his death. This evidence was sufficient for araional trier
of fact to find the defendant guilty of attempted especially aggravated robbery beyond a reasonable
doubt.

IV. Sentencing

The defendant’s find two issues involve challenges to the trial court’s sentencing
determinations. When an accused challenges the length and manner of service of a sentence, itis
the duty of this court to conduct a de novo review on the record with a presumption that “the
determinations made by the court from which the appeal istaken are correct.” Tenn. Code Ann. §
40-35-401(d). Thispresumption is*conditioned upon the affirmative showing in therecord that the
trial court considered the sentencing principles and all relevant facts and circumstances.” State v.
Ashby, 823 SW.2d 166, 169 (Tenn. 1991).

In conducting a de novo review of a sentence, this court must consider (a) any evidence
received at the trial and/or sentencing hearing, (b) the presentence report, (c) the principles of
sentencing, (d) the arguments of counsel relative to sentencing alternatives, (e€) the nature and
characteristics of the offense, (f) any mitigating or enhancement factors, (g) any statements made by
the accused in his own behalf, and (h) the accused's potential or lack of potential for rehabilitation
or treatment. Tenn. Code Ann. 88 40-35-103, -210; State v. Scott, 735 S.W.2d 825, 829 (Tenn.
Crim. App. 1987).
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The party chdlenging the sentencesimposed by thetrial court hasthe burden of establishing
that the sentence is erroneous. Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-401, Sentencing Commission Cmts;
Ashby, 823 SW.2d at 169. In this case, the defendant has the burden of illustrating the sentences
imposed by the trial court are erroneous.

A. Enhancement Factor (16)

Thedefendant first contendsthat thetrid court erroneously applied enhancement factor (16),
“[t]he crime was committed under circumstances under which the potential for bodily injury to a
victimwasgreat,” Tenn. Code Ann. 8 40-35-114(16) (1997 & Supp. 2002), to enhance his sentence
for attempted especially aggravated robbery. He argues that the factor was inappropriate because
a potentid for bodily injury is inherent in the offense. The State responds that the trial court
appropriately applied enhancement factor (16) based on therisk of bodily injurytoindividuals, other
than the victim, who were on the porch at thetime of the offense. The State further arguesthat, even
If enhancement factor (16) was erroneously applied, the remaining enhancement factors found
applicable by thetrial court support the enhanced sentence.

Enhancement factors may be applied “ only when thefactorsare* appropriate for the offense’
and ‘ not themsel ves essential elements of the offense.’” Statev. Lewis, 44 S\W.3d 501, 504 (Tenn.
2001) (quoting State v. Podle, 945 SW.2d 93, 95 (Tenn. 1997)). Since serious bodily injury isan
essential element of especially aggravated robbery, enhancement factor (16) may not be applied on
the basis of the great potential for bodily injury to the victim of the offense. See State v. Nix, 922
S.W.2d 894, 903 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995). Here, the trial court applied enhancement factor (16)
based not on therisk of bodily injury to thevictim, but on therisk of injury to the several individuals
present on the porch at the time the defendant committed the offense. However, our supreme court
has recently hdd that enhancement factor (16) may not be based on therisk of injury to individuals
other than the victim of the crime. State v. Imfeld, 70 S.\W.3d 698, 706 (Tenn. 2002). Therefore,
thetrial court erred by applying this enhancement factor to the defendant’ s sentence for attempted
especially aggravated robbery.

Nonethel ess, we agree with the State that the other enhancement factors applied by thetrial
court, combined with the absence of mitigating factors, justify the maximum sentence that was
imposed for the offense. In addition to enhancement factor (16), thetrial court found the following
enhancement factors applicableto this offense:

(1) The defendant has a previous history of criminal convictions or
criminal behavior in addition to those necessary to establish the
appropriate range;

(5) The defendant treated or dlowed a victim to be treated with
exceptional cruelty during the commission of the offense;
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(8) The defendant has a previous history of unwillingness to comply
withthe conditions of asentenceinvolving release in thecommunity;

(10) The defendant had no hesitation about committing acrime when
the risk to human life was high.

Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-114(1), (5), (8), (10) (1997). In addition, the tria court found
enhancement factor (9), the defendant possessed or employed afirearm during the commission of
theoffense, see Tenn. Code Ann. §40-35-114(9), applicableto the second degree murder conviction.
The defendant does not contest these factors, and the record supports their application.

B. Excessive Sentences

As hisfinal issue, the defendant contends that the trial court erred by imposing excessive
sentences for both offenses. Specificdly, he arguesthat the trial court erred by failing to apply his
low serotonin level as a mitigating factor. The defendant asserts that evidence that his serotonin
level “ plainly rendered him unableto restrainimpulses’ should have operated to reduce hissentences
fromthemaximum intherange. The State contendsthat thetrial court did not err by failing to apply
the defendant’ slow serotonin level asamitigating factor, sincethe evidence at trial showed that the
defendant did not act impulsively when he committed the crimes. We agree with the State.

As a standard offender convicted of atempted especialy aggravated robbery, a Class B
felony, the defendant was subject to asentence ranging from eight to twelve years. See Tenn. Code
Ann. 840-35-112(a)(2) (1997). Hisconviction for second degree murder, aClass A felony, carried
asentence ranging from fifteen to twenty-five years. Seeid. 8 40-35-112(a)(1). The sentenceto be
imposed for a Class A felony is presumptively the midpoint in the range when there are no
enhancement or mitigaing factors present. Id. 8§ 40-35-210(c). For a Class B felony, the
presumptive sentence is the minimum in the range when no enhancement or mitigating factors are
present. 1d. For both Class A and Class B felonies, the procedure is for the trial court to increase
the sentence within the range based upon the existence of enhancement factors and then reduce the
sentenceasappropriatefor any mitigating factors. 1d. §40-35-210(d), (e). Theweight to beafforded
an enhancement or mitigating factor isleft to thetrial court's discretion so long asit complies with
the purposes and principles of the 1989 Sentencing Act, and its findings are adequately supported
by therecord. 1d. 8 40-35-210, Sentencing Commission Cmts.; Statev. Moss, 727 SW.2d 229, 237
(Tenn. 1986).

At the sentencing hearing, thetrial court found that evidence of the defendant’ s background,
including Dr. Rossby’ s testimony regarding hislow serotonin level and the problemsit had caused
him, was a dlight factor in mitigation but entitled to very little, if any, weight and, thus, did not
“mitigate]] the enhancement factors” inthe case. Thetrial court rgected the defendant’ s proposed
mitigating factor that he acted under strong provocation. See Tenn. Code Ann. §40-35-113(2). The
trial court also declined to apply the defendant’ s serotonin level asa mitigating factor under either
subsection (3) or (8) of Tennessee Code Annotated section 40-35-113, finding that it constituted
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neither substantial grounds tending to excuse or justify his conduct, seeid. § 40-35-113(3), nor a
mental or physical condition that significantly reduced his cul pability for the offenses. Seeid. § 40-
35-113(8). Thetria court first explained its reasoning when it rejected the defendant’ s serotonin
level as a “substantial ground” that excused his conduct for the attempted especially aggravated
robbery:

With regard to the issue of [the defendant’ 5] serotonin leves,
my recollection of the testimony of the doctor wasthat even with his
low serotonin levels, he may have aninability to control hisimpul ses
oncethey fired up or if asituation arose. But in this case, the proof
that was presentedin thiscase, wasthat it appears[the defendant] had
the intent to commit an armed robbery and was not acting under
impulse but was acting with a cool, collective intent to commit an
armed robbery, and during the course of that armed robbery shot and
killed somebody. And for those reasons, this court doesn’t find that
[the defendant’ 5] low serotonin level affected his ability to commit
the crime of an aggravated robbery or attempted aggravated robbery
[sic], and then during the course of that he killed [the victim].

So | don't find that there are any substantial grounds, and the
key word there being substantial grounds, that excuse or justify his
conduct.

Inrejecting the defendant’ s seratoninlevel asaphysical or mental conditionthat reduced his
culpability for the crime, thetrial court stated:

Again, even though understanding and accepting the testimony
of the doctor in this case about the low serotonin level, | don’t find
that was afactor that affected or entered into the commission of this
offense, based on the proof that was presented, that there was
anything that caused -- from hislow serotonin leve that caused him
to commit the offense of an attempted especially aggravated robbery
and the murder. | just don’t find from the proof that was sufficiently
shown, so I’'m not going to consider that.

Thetrial court used similar reasoning to reject the serotonin evidence as either a substantial
ground that excused the defendant’s conduct, or amental condition that significantly reduced his
culpability for second degree murder, finding that the defendant’ sactionsin shooting thevictimfirst
in oneleg, thenin the other leg, and finally in the head, did “not appear to . . . beimpulse actions,”
or akillingcommittedin a*“log[s] of control manner,” but appeared instead to be“aplanned, albet
maybe short, but caculated effort, knowing killing, if you will, of an individual.”
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The defendant contends that by finding he committed the offensesin a cool and calculated
manner rather than impulsively, the trid court contradicted the verdict of the jury which, by
acquitting him of premeditated and felony murder, “[c]learly . . . found that [his] actions were not
cool, calculated, deliberate and premeditated.” We disagree. Nothing in the jury’s verdicts
contradicts the trial court’s finding that the crimes were not impulsive, and that the defendant’s
serotonin level therefore played no role in their commission. Although the jury rejected
premeditated or felony murder, they convicted the defendant of second degree murder, “aknowing
killing of another,” regjecting his claim that the killing occurred in a state of passion produced by
adequate provocation. The trial court correctly noted that the evidence at trial did not show the
crimesto have been committed on impulse, aswell as Dr. Rossby’ stestimony that a crime must be
impulsiveinorder for anindividual’sserotonin level to haveplayed anyroleinitscommission. We,
therefore, concludethat thetrial court did not err by failing to apply evidence of the defendant’ slow
serotonin level asamitigating factor to reduce the defendant’ s sentences from the maximum in the
range.

In sum, we conclude that, although the trial court erroneously applied enhancement factor
(16) to the defendant’ ssentencefor attempted especially aggravated robbery, it did not err in failing
to apply the defendant’s serotonin level as a factor in mitigation. We further conclude that the
remaining enhancement factors that were appropriaely applied, combined with the absence of
mitigating factors, justify the maximum sentences imposed in this case.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing authoritiesand reasoning, we affirm the judgments of thetrial court.

ALAN E. GLENN, JUDGE
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